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The fifth annual meeting of the
0ld Dartmouth Historical Society was
held March 27 in the building of the
organization,

The following ofMicers were elected:

President—Edmund Wood.

Viee Presidents—George I1.
Henry B. Worth.

Treasurer—William A. Mackie.

Secretary—William A, Wing.

Directors for three vears—D>Aiss
Julia W. Rodman, Rev. Willilam I.
Geoghegan, Mr. Job C, Tripp.

Prezident Wood called the meeting
tor order and spoke as follows: “We
have c¢ome together tonight,”" he
gaid, *“to hold the fifth annual
meeting of the =ociety, It has
generally heen the order to have
full reports  from the = different
working branches of the society,
and they will go fully into de-
cause they wonld naturally be in the
line of a review of the year's work,
which would be =carcely fair to the
- officers,

“I will simply say that the society
Is going forward and not backward.

Tripp,

-out that its ability to do good

The membership has increazed: the
income has been suificient; there
have been funds earned by the actual
work of the members, and by exhibi-
tions: and the society has begun to
live up to the privileges of the new
home. 1 think it has begun to find
work
s being enhanced by the opportuni-
ties here, and that the members have
more succesafully applied for contri-
butiong, ™ecause the public realizes
we are in a position to give proper
custody to the wvaluable things they
have; so0 that the museum section is
gaining all the time.

“The active work of this branch
has been exemuplified in the remark-
able loan exhibitions held during the
year, and I think we have all been
impressed with the immense fund of
valuable things that come out of the
homes of this country at these times.
I hope that they will induce people
to zee how much better their treasures
look in suitable surroundings, and
that eventually these things will bring
up in the custody and perhaps the
ownership of the society.'



Report of the Directors

By William Arthur Wing

The first year in a new home is one
full of interest and teachings—
with best of all the knowledge that
grew day by day that no better home
for this society could be possible.
Adaptability in every way for our pur-
poses has been proved again  and
again and is perhaps best summed up
by a visitor's saying: “Of course this
building was built for the soclety!”
The secretary hag made a study of
historical societies and can say that
there is probably no soclety that of-
fers 20 much to its  members—Tlor
what they pav—as this society. Yet,
with our fine new house and =all it
has to give its members, come many
extra expenses. Some of the wavs to
help these conditions are by an in-
crease of membership and a prompt
pavment of dues.

In regard to the dues—they are §1
a vear for annual membership, or the
pavment of $25 to become a life mem-
ber—who is exempt from any more
dues. The financial year is from July
18t to July 1st. TIpon the pavment
of the membership dues the member
receives the membersghip card, which
iz in itself a receipt and contains the
date of the expiration. Please keep
the cards and pay dues promptly.

On each quarterly-meeting notice
Iz a reminder to pay dues, please heed
it, consult your card-receipt, if neces-
sary, see Iif it has expired, and if so
send dues to the secretary.

The building is open Wedneszsdayvs
and Saturdays, 10 to 1; Tue=dayvs,
Thursdays and Saturdays, 2 to §.

Admission 25 cents each. Members
free. Ten tickets for §1, on =ale in
the building,

Bell Telephone—Anyone wishing to

telephone the secretarv please do so
at the building during above hours.

A beautiful way of aiding our so-
ciety which iz working to be of help
in this growing community is by gift,
ezecially memorial gifts or bequests.
A way wherein the giver and the one
remembered are both honored per-
petually.

For death Is ever with us and with-
in the last twelve months we have to
record the passing away of Juliet A.
M. Martin Barney, Mary G. Devoll,
Charles Henry (Gifford, Elizaheth
Cummings Gifford, Elizabeth Crocker
Hastings, Sarah Nelson Haskins, Wil-
lard Nye, Jr., {(a life member), Charles
W. Plummer, Emma Cornelia Ricket-

son, Roland T. G. Russell, Willlam
Congdon Taber, Edward XN. Tucker,

Harriet E. West, Susan Maria Wood.
To those who are with us, and to
the future members and others, we
urge vou to see the many advan-
tages of this socilety and help us to
maintain this ideal of Emerson: “I
wish to find imn my own town a mu-
seum where I can deposit my precious
treasure where I and my children can
see it from time to time, and where
it has its proper place among hun-
dreds of such donations from other
citizens who have brought thither
whatever articles they have judged
to be in their nature rather a public
than a private property. A collection
of this kind would dignify the town
and we should love and respect our
neighbors more. Every one of us
would gladly contribute his share and
the more gladly the more congiderable
the institution had become.™
Regpectfully submitted,
William Arthur Wing,
Hecretary.



Report of the Treasurer
By William A. Mackie

The treasurer's report was render-
ed by Willlam A. Mackie, as follows:

Balance, March 2§, 1907, $518.36
Receipts, .

Publications, $30.35
Life membership, 225.00
Membership, 143.00
Membership (annual dues,) TR 00
Income N, B. Lyveeum fund, 139.50
Income rebale of taxes, 46,4949
Subseriptions, 200,00

$2172.20

Payments,

Museum section, $185.15
salaries, 412,58
Labor, 29.48
Repairs, 173.34
Current cXpenses, 2l11.51
N. B. Inst. for Sav. acct life
membership, 225.00
$1547.34
Balance, March 26, 19508, 624,86
$2172.20

Additional income from N. B, Lyceum

g.“ﬂéj ;mt drawn from savings banks,
115.77.
Respectfully submitted,
WM., A, MACKIE,
Treasurer,

Report of the Museum Section
By Annie Seabury Wood

The musenum =ection haz to report
a vear of =special activity. While we
gtill occupied the rooms on Union
street, it was our custom to hold,
through the winter, on the first Satur-
day of every month, an informal tea.
When September came last year, &
demand came also that the teas he
resumed.

A sugegestion was made, too, that
special loan exhibits be held from time
to time, and it oceurred to the com-
mittee that the two might be com-
bined with good results. So in Sep-
tember a combination series of teas
and special exhibitions was inaugu-
rated, and has gone on most success-
fully from that time. In September
the exhibition was of 014 Silver: in
October of Fans and Tortoize Shell;
in November of Textiles; In December
of Miniatures, Old Jewelry and Snuff-
Boxes; Iin January of Ivories; and in
February of Baskets.,

The March tea was omitted, be-
cause it would have followed so0 close-
Iy upon Washington's birthday, when
a Colonial tea and musical entertain-
ment was given. The patronage of
this affair was so unexpectedly large
that it threatened at one time to
overwhelm the management, but the
results financially were most happy,
and the committee can only hope that
no permanent damage was done to the
society's reputation for taking care of
its members and doing itz best for the
community at large.

On the first Saturday of April it i=
proposed to hold an exhibition of Old
Lace, and to follow it up in May with

some exhibition the character of
which will he announced later on. The
teas then will be discontinued through
the summer months.

The money which was cleared
from the lecture on Hawalii, given in
February, 1907, by Mrs. Todd, has
been used during the past year to
provide curtiains and screens for the
building, to make some necessary im-
provements in and additions to the
kitchen department, to repalr cases
and to frame pictures.

A part of the proceedsz of the
Washington's birthday entertainment
of this vear will pay for the platform,
which was built in =ections and can
be stored away, and for new show-
eases. The rest will be =saved until
something is brought to the attention

of the committee for which it seems
wise to spend it
The museum has been enriched

through the kindness of the late Wil-
lard Nve, Jr., by perhaps one of the
mo=t interesting and valuable relics in
its poszesgion, the model of an English
frigate made of boof bones by sailors
in Dartmoor prison during the war of
1812,

For thiz and for many other inter-
esting acqulisitions received during the
vear, some as gilts, some as loans, we
desire to thank all contributors. To
those, too, who have aided the success
of the Ioan exhibitions by generously
placing their treasures at our disposal,
we extend our hearty thanks.

Respectfully submitted,
Annie Seabury Waood,
Hecretary, Museum Section.



Report of the Historical Research Section
By Henry B. Worth

For the research section, Henry B.
Worth presented a paper on “Indian
Names of Old Dartmouth,” It was as
follows:

“Tn Acushnet, Fairhaven, New Bed-
ford, Dartmouth and Westport were
the Algonguin place names that ap-
pear in the list appended to this paper.
They are to be found in probate and
land records previous to 1730, In most
cases the earliest form of spelling has
been adopted and the list contains
approximately all names that have
leen preserved in any public registry
relating to the ancient town.

“The principal task in the investiga-
tion iz to ascertain the meaning of
the names. The =subject iz s0 clouded
in mystery and so little understond by
the average person and yet there ex-
ists so much curiosity to learn the
gignificance of Indian mnames that
there have been a great number of at-
tempts to invent derivations, most of
which are mere nlay on words and
vet many are accepted as genuine
by unzuspecting perscons who do not
dlscover the fabrication, One of the
Maine lakes has 2 name of 17 letters
which is thus explained: A hunter fired
hiz rifle but the cartridge failed to
explode. Then he addressed the an-
imal thus: ‘Moose! Look! My gun tick.”
Which iz the exact pronunciation of
the name and is only a pun. &uch in-
stances are to be heard everywhere
and are amusing if witty and startling.

“The study of Indian names must
bhegin by =ecuring a copy of Trum-
bull's Dietlonary, This scholar died ten
vears ago and his manuscrips voca-
bulary compiled during years of pa-
tient and persistent labor, was printed
by the Enthnological department of
the National Government. If was
baged on the papers, documents and
books of the missionaries to the In-
dians, who reduced any words or sen-
tences to writing, while conducting
their labors among the aborigines.
But this dictionary is not ,exhaustive
or complete,

“The Algonguin nation was com-
posed of many tribes esach of which
had its distinet dialect. These differed
glightly, one from another although
parts of one language. Eliot's Dible
which was the largest source of Thum-
bull’s work was translated into the
dialect of the Indians west of Boston.
The tribes on Buzzards Bay were the
Narragansetits and their tongue was
somewhat different from the Natick.
Conzequently many words used in

gouthern New England cannot he
found in this wvocabulary and those
that are common to both dialects may
not be =pelled alike. Then the writ-
ings that have preserved in any
language of the Narragansetiz were
meagre and fragmentary. So very
little of thiz dialect has been available
for purposes of linguistic study.

“Investigators have found that
Algonqguin names are generally fram-
ed according to a very simple com-
bination. The name Massachusetts will
furnish a good Mustration. “Massa’
comes from the word meaning “great,”
“chu” from the root signifyving “moun-
tain,”” while the termination “‘settz" is
like “set, et and ut,” and is a locative
and is translated “at” or “at the place
of.," The whole word means “at the
place of the great hill,"” which wag
applied to Mt. Walloston., So it will
he plain that the name contains three
clements:

1—The termniation “et,*
locative which is translated
“at the place of.”

2—A noun or substantive.

3—A modifier having the force of
an adjective.

From this regular comhbination there
iz the oceasional variation that the
firgt or third clement ig lacking.

It is a principle of universal ap-
plication that the name must describe
the place or some event that happened
there. Two instances will show the ap-
plication of this rule. In Marion is a
river named “Weweantet.” It comes
from two words: “Wewean"” means
“exceedingly winding®” and *‘tet” comes
from root tuck, meaning “‘river,” “‘a
very winding river.)" Thisz is an apt
description. The word Seconet has
been explained, “se" meaning “black,"”
“eon' denoting *“goose,”” and et
meaning “‘at the place of.,” The enfire
word meaning “‘at the place of the
black gooze” This derivation has
been severely criticized by Trumbull
because it containsg no description of
the place. He might have added that
it is not distinctive because the local-
ity iz not a special haunt of the wild
goose, This casts a doubt on the ex-
planation.

S0 in  the investigation of Indian
names a4 thorough knowledge of the
locality, its history and peculiarities
should be first acguired, Then with
the aid of the dictionary the student
will proceed to analyze the name into
its componnent roots. There will usual-
¥y he no difficulty in recognizing the

called a
“at" or



locative termination and centering the
attention on the remainder of the
word.

“It must be kept in mind that the
dictionary will be of little use until
the name has been divided and its
etvmology discovered because com-
pounds of noun and adjective are

not given in the wvocabularies. No
aunch word as “Weweantet” can be
found. But when *‘tet” has been iden-

tified with the word tuck, the student
may search Trumbull for the rest. He
will find Waeenu which means “‘round
about,” and then the reduplication of

the first syllable =ignifies *“very" or
“exceaedinglyv.'

“But it iz In the dlvigsion of the
word that the trochle arises. If the

noun and adjective ware given in full
and spelled according to Eliot or
Roger Williams, it would be very easy
to reach the rezult. But the [ates were
not g0 accomodating. The roots were
abbreviated by the Red Men in form-
ing the word and the spelling presents
continual and serious obstacles. Peter
Folger at Nantucket; the Mayhews at
the Vinevard and Seth Pope and Een-
jamin Crane at Dartmouth; who
wraote down the names which the In-
dians spoke, were not men of culture
and they spelled as they pleased. For
this reason names appear in our
records that might puzzle the early
missionaries, Then freguently several
persons had the opportunity to record
the name and there are found different
forms of the word widely wvariant
Generally the earliest form is pre-
ferred.

“In these difficult situations there
can be no reference to native Indians
for assistance. The only tribes in this
region any remnant of which is in ex-
istence are at Gay Head and Marshpeeo
and for generations these have spoken
Englizh. The ianguage that was heard
by the Pilgrim and Puritan by which
Philip aroused the hatred of the Al-
gongquins; by which Capt. Church,
Jonathan Delano and Ralph Earle
persuaded and intimated the Indians
of Dartmouth, has for over a century
been extinct.

“The analygiz of Indian names de-
pends upon the judgment of each stu-
dent and there is opportunity for the

greatest divergence. In one case
Trumbull suggests four etymologies
and anolher signal example is the

name Manhattan. One authority an-
nounced that it meant the *“place of
the Great Bpirit,”' a second was con-
fident that it signified ““the place where
we all were drunk,” while a third has
offered the sensible derivation *“the
island of hills.”

“Deceasionally an Indian name has
been =o changed by use that it seems
more like an English word. A gzood

sample iz Horseneck, the modern
name of the beach at the south side of
Westport, There is nothing in the
shape of thiz peninzsula to suggest this
designation and this led to the suspi-
clon that possibly it might be an In-
dian name in disguise. It was discover-
ed that the word “Hassanegk™ accord-
ing to the native pronunciation was
almost identical with Horseneck. This
word means a ‘“‘cave Cavern, or en-
closure with stone covering or gides.”
Literally it means “a stone house.”

“A short distance north of the shore
on the west glde of the road was a
farm which before 1700 contained a
tract described as ““the old cellar.” “the
cellar place,” and other similar
phrases. A cellar was a room dug
into the side of a slope, with the
back and sides walled up and cov-
ored with a roof. The 2ame
contrivance is now [requently ob-
served in the barn cellars for cattle.
It was a usual stvle of habitation
adopted by the frst settlers and was
a convenient and serviceable shelter.

“Quite likelv the name of this cellar-
dwelling, “Hassanegk" became Horse
Neck and finally was applied to the
beach,

The Nonguitt purchase comprised
five farms. The northermost was
always known as the “Bareneed”
farm and this name was used as early
as 1686, Some have supposed that the
rocks near the shore at certain height
of the sea, resembled the rounded
forms of human knees showing above
the water., Hence the name. But the
recorids show that the name “"Bare-
need’ was applied to the farm and
later to the creek, and only in recent
vears to the rocksz. 2o the above ex-
planation cannot be safely accepted.
I'nleszs =ome satisfactory derivation
rcan be presented along a different
line, it i= conjectured that here may
be an Indian name in =ome corrupted
form.

“The name “Nonguitt” is hardly the
original native word. The {iract he=-
tween the Paskamansett and Appona-
gansett rivers was called “*Nomoguid"™
Neck. The same name applies to
Gardners Neck in Swansea. By some
inadvertance the name was altered
to Nonquitt, about the time that the
gea =ide resort was purchased. The
first syvillable in the name relates to a
word meaning ““fish,”” but the =zignifica-
tion of the whole name has not been
settled, .

“In the early deeds hefore Dart-
mouth was incorporated as a town,
the land sold was usually described
as Cushena, Ponagansett, Coakset and
places adjacent. Apparently there were
three Indian settlements in this pur-
chase. In later vears Che prefix ‘A’
was added to each name. The name



Acushnet is spelled over forty differ-
ent wayvs, the earliest in 1639 being
found in Bradford's History and is the
game as in modern use. This term in
all its forms seems to have described
and rather than the stream itself.
The extent of the village seems to
have included Acushnet, Fairhaven
aund New Bedford. In Roger Williams
work on the Narragansetts may be
found a word “Aguechinoek,” which
he defines “to swim.” So the name
Acushnet has been explained as “the
swimming place.”

“Fonagansett was the section of the
purchase comprised within the bhounds
of modern Dartmouth. The name Swas
applied to the harbor at South Dart-
mouth. In 1858 in an address hefore
the Old Colony Historical soclety Dr
F W. Leland suggested the deriva-
tion from the Indian word meaning
YOyater.™ Later one writer pro-
poses “shell fish™ and another *“the
roasting place.” All of these de-
pend on the form heing Ap-
ponaganseit which is similar to the
Fhode Island name Apponaug. But
the earliest form iz that first herein
given. While the harbor at South
Dartmouth has always been noted for
clams, it is no oyster ground and all
attempts at ovater culture have failed.
The necessary fresh water river does
not conhnect with this bay.

The same name has been found
elsewhere and no explanation has heen
presented which seems satisfactory,

“Acoakset is the region comprized
In the town of Westport. The earliest
use of the name seems to have applied
to the river and was later transferred
to the land on both sides. It has been
the subject of great diversity of spel-
ling. The earliest was “Accohquesse™
or “Acokus,’” and the form “Acoxet”
still exists on the west side of the river,
The same name is found in Fhode
Island but no explanation of its
meaning is proposed. While it iz not
difficult to give a possible translation
of the word none has bheen discovered
that seems to apply to any loeal sitna-
tion or feature.

“Paskamansett iz the river that
rizes in the north end of New Bedflord
in Sassaquin pond passes through
Smiths and Russells Mille and joins
Buzzards Bay on the west side of
Mishaum Point. Until recent vears this
name applied only to the part below
Ruszsell Mills. It closely resembles the
name of one of the Elizabeth Islands,
Peshchammesset, whieh is abhreviated
to Pasque. The latter name means
“"broken'" or “separated” by force and
violence. It probably referred to the
fact that by a storm this island was
separated from Naushon, In form
both names denote land, rather than
water, ¥et in no record does the

Dartmouth name refer to the former,
At  Russells Mills the river flows
through a rocky gorge and in the rainy
season exhibits considerable violence
and some noize. if the designation of
the river relates to this fact it may
mean *“at the place where it bursts
through with violence,”

“In an appendix to one of the edi-
tions to Winthrop's diary it is stated
that the name of the Dartmouth In-
dian was Nukkehkummesz. The only
record in which this name appears is
the report made in 1698 by Rev.
Samuel Danforth, the minister of
Taunton, in reference to the condi-
tiom of the Indian churches ohserved
by him in a tour of inspection to
gonthern Massachusetts. In Dart-
maouth he found two, one at Acushnet,
and the other at the place named at
the beginning of this paragraph. The
meeting at the latter place was at-
tended by 20 familles comprising 120
persons, and at Acushnet by 14
families, Both had teachers and the
larger maintained a preacher named
Williams ESimons. There iz no record
or tradition to [x the loecation of the
Acushnet meeting house, but a few
facts have been discovered that may
determine the situation of the place
of the larger assembly, Tt is =aid that
the Attendants resided in Cokesit.
Assameekg, (probably the =ame as
Hassanegk), and some in Acushnet
and Assawamsett. The inference is
that thizs meeting place was nearer
the village of Acoxet than Acushnet.
In the division of the farm of Peleg
Slocum in 1751 the part assigned to
his son Holder was a mile south of
Russells Mills. One of the landmarks
mentioned was the old Indian meet-
ing house and it stood on the east
gide of the road. This is the only
record of any Indian pilace of meet-
ing in Dartmouth. This location would
accomodate residents in  Coakset,
Horseneck, and Apponagansett. It
was on the farm of Peleg Slocum, a
zealous member of the society of
Friends and probably interested in
the Indians. To this should be added
the fact that the name probably means
“the old house."” While these facts do
not prove the identity of the location
Nukkehkummes, wet there iz strong
probahbility that it was the same meet-
ing house that stood on the Slocum
farm two centuries ago.

LIST OF LOCAL INDIAN NAMES,

Note:—The names marked * are
described in  the foregoing paper.
Where no meaning Is given it has

not been possible to discover a =atis-
factory derivation.
* Acushnet.
Assameekg—=See Nukkehkummes,
#*Acoakset,



Copacut—A river in the north part
of Dartmouth, a branch of the No-

guochoke, It means “a place where
the treea grow close together,” It
iz alzo the name of a hill in the same

region.

*Bare-need.

Chepachet—This is a place in Rhode
Island, and after 1827 was adopted as
the designation of the locality east of
Buttonwood Pond and inecluded in the
park in New Bedford. Its meaning
in Rhode Island would have no lo-
cal significance here.

Contezawaocset—The name of a
small island in the west branch of the

Westport river between Adamsville
and the harbor. BEarliest form, Con-
tesewaxet.

Copatneast—A locality south of Ad-
amsville on the Westport river. It
means “thick woods or brush.”

Dartmouth East Bounds—In 1672
Robert Hazard of Wesaiport surveved
the east line of Dartmouth and the
next vear Arthur Hathaway and the
Indian chiefs fixed the bounds. The
first bound was at the waterside three
miles ecast of the Acushnet river at
a place called Wassapacoasett, which
means “at the place of the thin roek.”
Then the llne extending seven miles
into the woods to the south end of a
pontd, at a place called Masguampust,
which signifies “‘at the place of the red
upright stone.'” Southeast of this
bound is a swamp in a place called
“gQuanumoacke,” which denotes “the
land of the tall standing rock.” The
Rochester line has been changed sev-
eral times and the location of these
bounds has been lost. Possibly the
gecond bound may have been the well-
known “Peak Rock,” near the north
line of Acushnet. : £

Hobomack—The swamp in New
Bedford north of the Acushnet rail-
road station. The name means “The
Devil™

Haricans—On the Dutch maps of
1614 the Indians inhibating the re-
gion from Saconet river to Sandwich
are designated by this name. It is
some form of the word Narragan-
sett, considerably abbreviated, and
goon became obsolete.

* Horseneclk.

Mashtuxet—This was the brook that
flowed through the farm -of Increase
Allen inta Allen pond In the region
near Horseneck. The name means
“grass” or “Reed brook.” The same
word in a slightly altered form at

Nantucket is tra.nslated_ by an ?arl:,r
guthority as “Reed river.” These
reeds, or “cat o' nine tails," were

greatly valued by the Indians for the
construction of roofs of houses and
for mats. Their grass mats or matt-
resses were the principal features of
furniture.

Masquampust—See Dartmouth East
Boundsa.

Masquamskiesett — Where Robert
and Christopher Gifford owned land
on the east side of the Noguochoke
river, two miles gouth of Hix bridge;
it means *“at the place of the red
standing stone.”

Mischaum—The long, narrow point
on the east side of the mouth of the
Pascamansett river in Dartmouth. It
belongs to the same root as Shawmut,
and means “at the long point.”

Nanckumsick, alzo spelled Nane-
komshk—Name of a cedar swamp in
the north part of Westport,

Nakata—Thizs name waz applied to
the whole or a part of the point in
Fairhaven now called Sconticut. But
later it was confilned to West Island,
and generally spelled Nakaty., This
word means “wooded point.” This
meaning when applied to the island is
not appropriate; when so first used
it was designated as the island Nacata,
which was probably intended to mean
“the island next to the neck.”

Naskatucket—The brook in the east
part of Falrhaven that ows Iinto
Naskatucket bay., The name has becn
applied in modern times to the region
on both sides of the brook.

Nobscot—The name of the ledge In
Fairhaven at Fort Phoenix. It means
““at the point of the High rock'" or
“Rocky Point.™

*Nonguitt.

Noguochoke—The name of the river
which extends northward by the east
gide .of Westport point. The word
gseems to indicate land rather than
water. It is a singular fact that there
has been no change in the spelling
from the first. It iz possible to find
a meaning of the word, but there has
not been dizscovered a derivation that
describes any local feature.

*Nukkehkummes.

Nutaguanset—The peninsula in the
south part of Westport now called
Horzeneck. At one time the name
was used in an abbreviated form,
“Quanset.” William Wallace Tooker,
the present authority on Algonguin
place names, is of the opinion that
thi= name means “at the burnt
woods,"” or pozsibly “the place of fish-
ing by fire-fighting.” In =ome places
men burn fires on the shore at night
and the lirht attract fish near the
land and they can be easily taken by
nets., The name may refer to a simi-
lar custom among the Indians.

Oneko—Thia was the name of a
gon of Unecas, the famous leader of the
Mohegana.

Paguachuck—The name of West-
port point. The name means “at the
clear or open hill,” There Is an ele-
vated rldge extending from Central



Village on the centre line of the neck
nearly to the end.

*Pascamansett.

Paschetest—A swamp in the north-
east corner of Westport.

FPeetskeshuet—The region where
William Ricketson's farm was located,
which is about a mile south of South
Westport, on the east side of the No-
gquochoke river.

*Peronopet — The region about
Faunce corner in North Dartmouth,
The presence of the letter “r” in the
name iz o stumbling bloeck. Loeal
names could not properly contain that
letter. Before a translation is pos-
gible the original form must be as-
certained.

FPoganzet—Thae body of water west
of Central Village called Devolls pond.
The name means “‘at the pond.”

Poquanset—The harbor at the end
of Westport point. The name means
“at the opening.”

*Potomzlka—A neck on the east side
of Pascamansett near its mouth. It
means “‘at the Round Rock,” and re-
fers to the ledge or bowlder at the
end of the point near the water.

Quanapog—">The name of a pond in
Dartmouth near the line of Freetown
in which one of the bhranches of the
Noquochoke river has its rize. Al-
though an insignificant body of wa-
ter, its name c¢learly means “Long
Pond.”

Quannachuck—The swamp between
Westport Factory and Watuppa pond,
extending from Freetown line south
of Hemlock station. The name seems
to denote *“at the long hill,”" mean-
ing the ridge in which Copacut Hill
iz a section.

Quannin—John Quanua in 1700
lived near the North Dartmouth rail-

road station. Quannin swamp was
named for him, His name signified
“a hawl.”

Quanompacke—See Dartmouth East
Bounds.

Sassaquin—The pond near the north
line of New Bedford in which the Pas-
camansett river has its source; also
gpelled “Cassacowen.”

Sconticut—The neck which forms
the south part of Fairhaven. The
name may be derived from the word
“SBqguantum,” which means *door” or
“gateway,” and may mean “at the en-
trance,” that is, of the Acushnet river.

SBepontic—The region on the west

-
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side of the Pascamansett river oppo-

site Potomska. The name is also
spelled “Spontic.’”
Shawmut—The section near Tur-

ners mills about half a mile east of
Faunces corner. In the old lavouts
it iz called Perrve neck. The name
above given means “at the neck,"” and
i= apt encugh, but iz of modern ap-
plication,

Shimsuet—A  locality on the east
gide of the Noguochoke river a mile
south of Hix bridge. The Wing farm,
which has been in that family for
two centuries, in 1707 was deszcribed
as being “at a place or spring'” called
Shimsuet.

Wamsutta—The name of a4 =on of
Massasoit. The deed from the sa-
chems= confirming the grant of the
Dartmouth purchase was given by
father and son. Wamsutia was a
brother of Philip, also known as Meta-
comel,

Waszemequia—In the sachems' deed
to the Dartmouth purchasers, Masza-
s0it was  also  called Wasemequon,
which may medn “one who gives
judgment.” When Henrvy H. Crapo
established his greenhouses on Crapo
street in New Bedford he adopted
thiszs name for his place.

Wasontuxsett—The region on  the
eazt side of the Noguochoke river,
north of Hix bridge, where the late
John Allen resided. It was the home-
stead of Daniel Wilcox, who had ex-
tensive dealings with the Indians.
The meaning of the name is not clear,
but it probably refers to the brook
that joins the river north of the Allen
house,

Wassapacoasett — See Dartmouth
East Bounds.

Watuppa—The great ponds between
W’{est_pqrt and Fall River. Dr. Leland
in 1858 suggested as a meaning “clear

water.” The name seems to signify
“they draw water.”
Wesquamqgueszet—The creels in

Fairhaven a short distance east of
the new tack works., It is also spelled

“Wisgquincussett,” and the stream Is
known as “Crooked or Skipping
creel,” and the former is the mean-

ing of the name.

Winsagangett—The ereek on  the
west side of Sconticut neck a mile
north of the point. The name signi-
fies ‘“‘to pour out qulckly.”
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Report of the Publication Section

By William Arthur Wing

“The frst settlers, having obtained
their splendid acres, built their homes
upon them and reared thelr voung and
passzed the podssession on with a proud
neart. Through centuries the homes
enriched them=elves—thelr acres had
borne harvests—their trees had grown
and spread huge branches—full lives
had been ilved within the embrace of
the walls. (The land itself perhaps
would have shown another face if it
had not been trodden by 30 many
springing feet, if so0 many harvests
had not waved above It, if so many
eves had not looked upon and loved
it). There must be stories enough of
men and women Wwho have lived in
this place—of what they had done—
{(of how theyv had loved)—of what
they had counted for in their coun-
tryv's wars and peacemakings, great
functions and law-building., To be able
to look back through centuriesland
know of one's blood that sometimes
had been shed In the doing of great
deeds, must be a thing to remember.”

These words help express some of
the aims of the Publication Section
and what theyv wish to perpetuate by
their quarterly perlodicals. That this
accomplishment is at least well start-
ed is shown by the Library of Har-
vard university and the Public Library
of Boston, many other libraries of
societies of high standing havlpg ro-
quested our publications for their use.

We have so far 20 publications con-
taining some information unobtainable
elzewhere. They have the following
subject matter:

No. 1—(a) Gosnold and his Colony
at Cuttvhunk, by Annie Russell Wall;
{(b) The Modern Settlement of Cut-
tvhunk, by Elizabeth Watson; (¢)
The Gosnold Memorial Shaft and So-
ciology and the Geology of Cutty-
hunk, by Walton Ricketson.

No. 2—(a) Dartmouth Tradltions,
by Hon, William W. Crapo; (b)
Landmarks of Rus=sells Mills, by Myra
B. Howland; (¢) Traditions of Pa-
danaram, by L. A, Littlefield; (d)
The Salt Industry of Padanaram, by
Ellis L. Howland.

No. 3—i(a) Peleg ESlocum of Dart-
mouth and His Wife, Mary Holder,
by William Arthur Wing; (b) Ten
Ancient Homes, by Henry B. Worth;
{¢) The King Phillp War in Dart-
mouth, by Captain Thomas R. Rod-
man.

No. 4—The Gosnold Memorial

No. i—Proceedings of the First An-
nual Meeting.

No. f—(a) Fifty Years on the Fair-
haven School Board, by Job C. Tripp;
() The Town of Fairhaven in Four
Wars, bv George H. Tripp.

No. 7—i(a) Past Industries of the
Upper Acushnet River, by Mrs. Daniel
T. Devoll; (b) Old Acushnet, by Mrs.
Clement N. S8wift; Resolutions on the
Death of Hon. Charles 8. Randall

No. 8=—(a) Benjamin Crane and the
0Old Dartmouth Surveys, by Alex-
ander McL. Goodspeed; (b) Friends
Here and Hereaway, by Mary Jane
Howland Taber.

No. 9—Proceedings of the Second
Annual Meeting,

No. 10—i(a) Historical Assoclations
in North Dartmouth, by Edward T.
Tucker; (b) Historical Glimpses of
Dartmouth Schools, by Job 8 Gidley;
{c) Pllgrimages of the 0ld 8South
Historieal Society.

Wo. 11—(a) A Dayv in Dartmouth,
England, by A, H. Swift: (b) Dedica-
tion of the Fearing Memorial, Fair-
haven.

No. 12—Friends Here and Here-

away (continued), by Mary Jane
Howland Taber.
No. 13—Proceedings of the Third

Annual Meeting; Memoir of Thomas
R. Rodman, by Henry H. Crapo.

No. 14—(a) Fitting Out a Whaler,
by L. A. Littlefield; (b) Captain Seth
Pope, by James L. Gillingham.

No. 15—Storvy of Water street, by
Elmore P. Haszkins.

No. 1f=—(a) Introductory Address,
Hon. William W. Crapo; (b) Remin-
isences of New Bedford, by Rev.
Alexander McKenzie, D. I»; (¢} 0l1d
Dartmouth at Home.

No. 1T—Proceedings of the Fourth
Annual Meeting., .

No. 18—(a) Persons and Places of
the Past, by Edmund Taber; (b) The
Family of George Allen the Tmmi-
grant, and Itz Connection with the
Settlentent of Old Dartmouth, by Wal-
ter Spooner Allen.

No. 19—8ome of the Streets of the
Town of New Bedford, by Elmore P.
Haskina: List of Streets accepted by
the Town of New Bedford before
1847.

No. 20—Proceedings of the Fifth
Annual Meeting.

To those who have messages from
the past of Old Dartmouth, either in
the form of old manuscript or folk-
lore, we ask that yvou give them to us
in papers read at cur guarterly meet-
ings and later for our publications,



Preservation of the “precious records
of our past has become almost uni-
versally recognized as a pressing duty.
If we are not to be entirely negleetful
of the interests of the future.” To
those who wish a collection of local
history really far-reaching and unigue
that all may see and know for all time.
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in its scope, we urge the purchase and
preservation of our publications, for
“only the key of wvesterday unlocks
tomorrow."

Respectfully submitted,

William Arthur Wing,
Chairman.

Report of the Photograph Section

By William Arthur Wing

“"{Jnee upon a time'"—the Belle of
Old Dartmouth was Rebecca Russell.
She was good as she was beautiful and
her father {who was called the
“duke") was-rich and kind, so when
gshe married the man of her choice,
Idaniel Ricketson, 8r., her father built
for her a house of the trees that grew
upon the lot—which stood by, his
way-to-the-river from his home on the
hill {For her father, the “‘duke,” own-
ed much of the land om which the
centre of New Bedford now stands).
Thiz house of Daniel Ricketson, 3r.,
and his bride, Rebecca Tlussell, stands
on the southwest corner of present
Union street and Acushnet avenue.

One of the children of this couple
was Joseph Ricketson, Sr., (who mar-
ried Anna Thornton). He was the
cashier of the Bedford Commercial
Bank, on the site of this building.

These were ancestors of our hon-
ored historian, Daniel Ricketson, and
our active and valued member, Wal-
ton Ricketzon.

A sister of this Daniel Ricketson,
8r., (who married Rebecca Russzell)
married Abraham Smith, the second
postmaster and a prominent and hon-
ored citizen of the village of Bedford.
They were the parents of the “hest
behaved, best looking and higgest
family” in town, 19 in all. With such
a household no wonder their daugh-

ter Rebecea Ricketson Smith, staved
much with her uncle, Daniel Ricket-
son, Sr., and his wife Rebecca, whose
name she bhore.

Across  the street was stopping
voung Richard Williams, a handsome
stranger (later to become a leading
citizen). “Mind,"” said his hostess,
“Richard Williams, thee does not look
across the way at neighbor Ricket-
son's—a pretty Quakeress, their niece,
is there."

Later on Richard Williams and the
“pretty Quakeress” were married—
just 100 wyears ago. I leave you to
judge whether he looked or no.

“T tell this tale as ‘'twere told
to me” by a descendant, (Miss Re-
becca Williams Hawes), who has

given our photograph-room pictures
of those who lived this story. There
vou mayv see them, Rehecca Hussell,
the old-time-belle; Richard Williams,
the lover-of-long-ago. The *“pretty
Quakeress,"” Hebecca Ricketson Smith-
Williams.

To those who have such pictures of
the past, we ask tnat you let them
come to us—that the photograph sec-
tion of this society may tell upon its
walls the stories of Old Dartmouth.

Regpectfully submitted,

Willlam Arthur Wing,
Chairman.
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Miscellaneous Business

President Wood announced: “There
iz one other matter of considerable
importance to come up at  this
time—in some ways it may be re-
garded as a report {rom the museum
section. Some months ago, several of
the indefatigable workers among the
ladies began to urge upon the retired
president that we should be enriched
by a portrait which he should give
of himself, painted as we have seen
him during the vears he has served
us so acceptably as president. There
are portraits of him extant, but none
which we should enjoy 20 much as a
modern one. They importuned him
sueccessfully, and he yielded—as most
men do. The result has been that a
portrait has been painted during the
last few months, by Jean Paul BSel-
inger, who has been given many sit-
tings. Two or three days ago, the por-
trait was brought down to our rooms,
and modestly hung. It was Mr, Crapo's
desire that there should be no celebra-
tion of the gift, but the museum gec-
tion really believed that while they
were foregoing anyv eelebration, they
ought not to be deprived of a real un-
veiling, They voted today to accept
the portrait, and we ought to do the
same, but not until we have seen the
portrait.”

The American flag which covered
the picture, at the rear of the plat-
form was drawn aside, and following
the applause, Mr. Wood spoke as fol-
lows:

“It is indeed fortunate that the
presentation of this portrait has af-
forded an opportunity for all of us
to express by our words, by our aec-
tion, and by our enthusiasm, the es-
teem, the honor and the aflection that
we have for Mr. Crapo—the well Le-
loved first president of this soclety.
It iz our aim and our ambition fto
have upon our walls the portraits of
all the leading personages whose ahili-
ties and wisely directed activities have
made the eventful history of this lo-
cality. These portraits exist now in
the numerous homes of their descend-
ants in this community, but gradually

they will emerge and assume their
proper places on these congenial
walls.

“1t iz eminently fitting that we

should place among these portraits—

now during his still active life among
us—-the likeness of that son of Old

Dartmouth, who has so0 many times
at historical celehrations been the
master of ceremonies—ito introduce

the past to the present, who has al-
wayvs championed among us the an-
cilent virtues and recited the devo-
tion and the steadfastness of the men
and the women of the older time.

“And we can be =20 sure that his
living and cheerful society on the
wall yonder will bhe acceptable to
those ald worthies who have gath-
ered arcund him. He ought to he
popular with them. He has always
been fair to the past. The two great
historical addresses on  which his
fame as a historian safely rests, are
remarkable for the thoroughness of
regearch, the accuracy of the facts,
and the justnesz of the judgments of
men and motives.

“It will be a source of great satis-
faction to all of us to have this por-
trait on our walls at the same time
that we have so freguently and regu-
larly the living presence of the sub-
ject of the portrait,—and in hehalf of
the society I accept it. May we have
both the subject and the portrait for
many years yet."

Another gift to the society was a
model of a British Frigate, made from
beef bones by a sallor confined in
Dartmoor prison, in 1812, It was
bequeathed to the soclety by Willard
Nwve, Jr., who considered it the most
valuahle of his possessions. In an-
nouncing the receipt of the gift, from
Miss Helen Freeman, executrix of Mr.
Nye's will, President Wood stated that
Mr. Nve once told him that many
vears ago, Professor Spencer Baird
of the Smithsonian Institution at
Washington, after seceing his collec-
tion of curios, remarked that of all
the things, he would rather have that
model for the national museum than
anyvthing else. Mr. Nyve had made
the s=statement that that was where
the model would go, but the organ-
ization of the local society led him
to change his decision. “This society
has changed the destiny of a good
many things," s=aid President Wood,
“and it will change the destiny of a
gond many more.”



MAP OF SMITH MILLS
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Smith Mills

By Henry B, Worth

During the progress of the King
Philip war the government at Ply-
mouth izsued an order that the in-
habitants of Dartmouth should rebuild
and resettle their habitations In a more
compact form, at least in each village,
s0 that they could the better defend
themselves from the attacks of the
Indians and attend the public worship
of God. Such was the rule observed
elsewhere in the colonles and
there is mno reason to suppose
that the people on Buzzards
bay desired to follow any policy
differing from the usual custom. But
they were confronted by a geograph-
ical condition not existing in anv other
town, and this was recognized in the
order. Here there could not be a cen-
tre where there was established the
town house, church and schoolhouse,
training field and the wvillage store,
Hence, in the order, was the sugges-
tion that the compact form be observ-
ed “in each wvillage.” This doubtless
refers to the fact that when the region
was granted to the purchasers and
for years later in the deeds relating
to the same it was described as ‘““Cush-
ena, Ponagansett and Coakset and
places adjacent.” Among the Indians
there was some sort of division thus
desipnated. Probably when the town
of Dartmouth was divided Coakset and
Cushena were respectively named
Wesatport and New Bedford, while
Dartmouth followed Ponagansett.

How zealously the Inhabitants may
have attempted to follow the advice
of their superiors at Plymouth in se-
curing three compact villages, does
not appear because there was never
any semblance of that result. The
farms had to follow the line of fertile
land and so became scattered. In the
numerous necks and pointz extending
into the bay were fine lands for agri-
cultural use and why should the resi-
dents go to the interior to some cen-
tral place in order to form a compact

village? Such an unreasonable re-
guirement would have been attended
with serious inconvenlence. Suppose
Central Village, 8mith Mills and
Acushnet had been selected as the cen-
tral locations, where the dwellings of
the people should be clustered. Keep-
ing in mind that there were fine farms
at  Westport Point, Russells Mills,
Smiths Neck, South Dartmouth, Scon-
ticut Neck and at other distant spots
and that the inhabitants used oxen in-
stead of horses, then after the farmer
had finished a long day's work on his
farm he would be obliged to travel
over a rough and ragged road to his
home distant from one to slx miles.
Such an intolerable condition could
never be secured. So not only was
there never a central settlement in
the large town of Dartmouth, but even
in the three separate sections thers
was and could be no such centre.
Consequently the homesteads were
scattered over the town wherever there
was land suitable for cultivation. They
were more or lesg indefinitely arranged
in a dozen groups. The village green
with the church, the schoolhouse,
town house and store so common in
the colony never existed in Dartmouth.
The bays and rivers defled the orders,
rules and customs that prevailed in
20 many New England towns.

From this came some important re-
sults. The absence of the central town
church allowed the Friends to gain
a foothold and later there came the
great controversy between the prov-
Ince of Massachusetts and the Dart-
mouth Quakers, an episode entitled to
much greater prominence than it has
recelved. The absence of the village
schoolhouse kept the town in a tur-
mail for over a century how and whera
to educate the children. Religion and
education proceeded on novel lines in
Buzzards bav.

These chapters of town history fur-
nish interesting reading. Then the



village store was lacking. There iz no
way to determine where the inhabi-
tants went to purchase commadities
which they could not provide for
themselves, In the early days of Dart-
mouth, the town of Newport was with-
in easy reach by wvesszels and may
have been their market. But while
the peaple could exist In the several
villages in most matters independently
of each other, thers was one institu-
tion to which they wera attached
which required them to azsemble at one
place, and that was their town meet-
ing. Somewhere the voters must go to
transact public business. Where they
went before the King Philip war there
iz no way to determine. They had been
a town eleven years and presumably
must have held public meetings. In
the absence of any record In relation
to this subject it may be surmised that
they met in dwelling nouses. After
the Indian war and after several of
the interior locallties were occupied,
it hecame imperative to fix upon some
spot for a town meeting house. The
only guide in the selection was to con-
form to public convenience,

The town meeting in May, 1688,
voted that town meetings be Theld
“near the mills and that Seth Pope
and Thomas Taber contract for a town
house 24 feet by 16 and the same was
to have two windows."” TFive years be-
fore the town voted that three notices
of town meetings should be posted,
one at William Spooner’s house, which
was at Acushnet; one at Richard Sis-
gon's, which was at the Head of West-
port, and the third “at the mills.” Here
iz the same phrasze, understood by the
town but not definite to those hearing
it two centuries and a quarter after-
ward. In July, 1686, at another town
meeting, it was voted that “‘the town
house should be covered with long
shingles inclosed with planks and clap-
boards, to be benched around to have
a table suitable to the length of the
house and two light windows,” but no
deseription of the location is added.

Shortly after 1678 Henry Taber and
George Babecock agreed with the pro-
prietors to build a mill and to recelve
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as compensation certain land. The
records were burned in 1725 and the
detalls of the agreement are lost. The
town's books contain no further in-
formation. But the real estate records
furnish some facts that fortunately de-
termine the location. It clearly ap-
pears that the only mill in which
George Babeoock was concerned was at
Smith Mills wvillage. The expression
“at the mills,” used in 1681 and 1686
must have referred to the mill of Bab-
cock or some predecessor now not as-
certainable. But there 1z more con-
vinelng evidence. In the layouts of
land are numerous mentions of the
town house and its location is clearly
described as early as 1711 and there
is no evidence that in the years after
1686 there had been any change. The
location was on the north side of the
Hathaway road a few yards west of
the head of the Slocum road. Here
the land was formally dedicated by the
proprietors in 1711 for a town house
and in 1770, twenty years after the
town house had been moved down to
the head of Apponegansett, the land
“where the town house stood" was
laid out to John Maxfield.

The indefinite phrase “at the mills,”
u=ed in 1651 and 1686, apparently well
understood by the inhabitants, leads
tn the inference that this village had
already become an important locality,
Beside being visited by the public on
account of its industries, a glance at
the map will show that no more cen-
tral spot could be selected for a town
house, On the thoroughfare which
crossed Dartmouth in the line be-
tween Plyvmouth and Newport, it was
remarkably cloge to the middle of the
town. At the date of the selection it
was also the practical centre of the
town's population. So far as publle
convenience was concerned, it an-
awered the requirements as well as any
place. Here the town house stood
until in 1739 Captain Samuel Willis,
George Lawton and John Howland
were appointed to build a new house
on the same lot, thirty feet square, or
more than twice the =size of the frst
building. In 1761 this was removed



to the hill west of the head of Ap-
ponegansett. So for over half a cen-
tury following the King Philip war
among the villages in Dartmouth the
moet important was S8mith Mills. It
counld not boast a4 town common or
training green nor a church or school
housge. But in these respects it stood
no  different from the others, But
it possessed two excellent substitutes.
1t had the town house and according
to the records the first mills establish-
ed in the town. Similar enterprises
were started in many sections, but in
none other at as early a date. For
over two centuries and a guarter this
water power has been continuously
used, which has been true nowhere
else In the town.

The title “at the mills” used in 1681
designated the chief industry of the
village and indicated that there was
more than one mill, The loss of the
proprietors’ records has obliterated all
information by whom the mills were
conducted before 1686. At that time
Ceorge Babeock was the miller and
became the owner of the water power.
The property was inherited by his son
Beturn. While Henry Tucker was one
who was to build the new mill in 1686
he received a grant of land in another
gection and the records do not show
that he had any interest in the mills.
In 1702 Return Babcock conveyved by
mortgage all his estate at the mills
and in 1708 it came into the possession
of Elishib Smith and after him the
mills passed to his descendants and
remained in that family nearly a cen-
tury. Hence the name “Smith Mills"
was appropriate.

For over a century the river or mill
pond has crosged the road at two
points. The west I8 the line of the
original stream, while the east iz a
sacond outlet of the pond and was
formerly called a “waste way" or the
“epjat mill flume."

This presents the question what mills
were operated in this wvillage and
where they stood. The designating
phrase, “at the mills,” used in 1681,
suggests more than one, but the rec-
ords give no other information. When
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Eeturn Babcock mortgaged the whole
of his real estate in this loecality in
1702 he inecluded “an old grist mill
and a fulling mill.”” The latter was
a mill for weaving cloth. The prop-
erty was acquired by Elishib Smith in
1706 and when Crane surveyed the
gection in 1710 a saw mill stood on
the west side of the west stream and
on the south side of the road in about
the same position as at present. The
indications are that it has stood on the

game lot continuously since it was
huilt by 8mith.
The last mention of the *“fulling

-

mill" is in 1773 in a deed from Joseph
Smith to son Elishib and the indica-
tion is that it stood on the land con the
north gide of the road and probably
between the two outlets of the pond.
Az early as 1775 Jozeph Smith had
a grist mill on the north side of the
road, near the pond and on the east
glde of the ea=zt stream, on the same
lot afterward occupied by the Stephen
Howland and A, P. Barker store build-
ing. In 1792 In a deed from E. Smith
to Benjamin Cummings the privilege
of rebuilding the grist mill is reserved
which indicates that some disaster had
oceurred or that an old structure had
worn out, The next vear in a deed
of the lot next east it is called “Ben-
jamin Cummings saw mill lot” In
1501 it is deseribed as having thereon
“an oil mill” and in 1823 it was sold
with **oil mill and blacksmith shop.®
The records after thls date mention
no mill in connection with this lot.

In 1806 the partnership composed of
0. Benjamin Cummings, Isaac How-
land, Jr.,, Gildeon Howland and Abijah
Packard, a millwright, owned the lot
on which the saw mill now stands and
other land on the north side of the
road. North of the saw mill they
built a cotton factory near the spot
now occupied by the building used as
a ztore and postoffice; and it is reputed
to have been started in operation =soon
after the war of 1812, In the deed
from Packard and the Howlands in
1823 the cotton factory is mentioned
and an “old corn and oil mill."* The
location of the latter is not described



but it may have been the mill on the
north side of the road.

After the Cummings had purchased
the Interests of the Howlands and
Packard, they built the present stone
grist mill. In the deed from Isaac
Howland, Jr., Gideon Howland, Jr,
and A, Packard to W. Cummings in
1813 of an intereast in this property
mention was made of “the oil mill"”
and “new corn mill” which were oh
the lot on the north side of the road
and on the east gide of the “waste way
or flume.” At that time no cotton fac-
tory was mentioned. In 1823 when the
Howlands and Packard sold their in-
terests to the Cummings, beside the
land, the deed covered the cotton fac-
tory, corn and oil mill, saw mill, four
houses, two stores, and the blacksmith
shop. The Cummings used the cotton
mill for yvears after 1823 and the build-
ing was taken down in 1874 by the
Hawes,

The roads near the Smiths Mills vil-
lage are ancient ways, probably in
the beginning Indiap trails. The earli-
est documentary evidence relating to
these ways is found in the history of
the King Philip's war by Capt. Benja-
min Church. With his forces he start-
ed to assist the people in Russells gar-
rison. This defense was a stockadse
with a house in the centre, located
on the east shore of Apponegansett
harbor about half a mile north of the
South Dartmouth library. This event
aceurred during the last week In July,
1676. At night-fall on a certain day
Church camped in the thick woods
near Bliss's Corner on the road be-
tween New Bedford and South Dart-
mouth. The next morning Church
learned that Philip, with a large com-
pany of Indians, had camped In the
vicinity and had then proceeded north.
Church started in pursuit. At least
three of Church's men had horses,
His account sayvs, "“After travelling
three miles we came into the Country
road where the tracks parted. One
steered toward the west end of the
CGreat Cedar swamp and the other to
the east end.” He divided his men

into two companies and the English-’

men took the east side road and the

Indian allies the west, with very suc-
cessful resulta,
This paragraph proves the existence

.at that time of three if not four mod-

ern ways all of which were undoubt-
edly lines of travel established by the
Indians,. The Country road is the
same known later as the Kings or
Queens highway or Ehode Island wav.
From the head of the Acushnet river
over Tarkiln hill and along the Hath-
away road it passed through Smiths
Mills and then south and west to the
Head of Westport and so to Howlands
Ferry, now known as Stone Bridge.
The road on the west side of the
swamp is the same that now extends
from Smiths Mills to Faunce Corner
and thence to Freetown. From the
head of the Acushnet river the trail
led north along the present Freetown
road and joined the other at or near
Braleys railroad station. It is evident
to any person familiar with the roads
in 8mith Mills that Church must have
entered the village on the Tucker road
and the only guestion is whether he
travelled from the garrison north and
then west to the Tucker road, or took
the Blocum road part of the way north.
Probably both were in existence at
that date as the Indians seem to have
established wayvs into each of the
necks projecting into Buzzards bay.
The direct course would be to take
the Slocum road until a connecting
path was reached and then the Tucker
road the rest of the distance. These
roads were not laid out by the town
authorities until thirty years later.
While the Chase road is not men-
tioned by implication in the Church
history, there is reason to suppose
that it alsco was an Indian path on
the west =zide of the Pascamansett
river and the lavout in 1717 was mere-
¥ a location on the old lines. To take
private land for a new road and build
the same with bridges and across
gwamps would entail heavy expense
which a town like Dartmouth, before
1700, could not afford, and there iz no
evidence that they undertook any such
public improvement. There is, there-
fore, a strong presumption that they
adopted the paths that had been es-



tablished by the Indians. These would
he econvenient for the Hedmen and
have proved abundantly so for the
English, Comparatively few of the
Dartmouth roads have been changed
gince 1700 and the few that have been
built aecross new country have been
&0 expensgive that it negatives any
theory that the settlers engaged in
such public enterprises. The paths
establizshed by the Indians were simple,
direct, and convenient and were the
result of actual experiment and use.
Several rivers and arms of the sea
deeply indented the reglon and this
necessitated an east and west line of
travel which would pass as near the
shore as possible and not require
bridges. Hence it would cross at the
spots usually called the head, where
there was a fording place, consequent-
Iy this main thoroughfare would con-
nect the heads of the Acushnet and
Pascamansett at Smiths Mills, ani
the Cookset. In its course this main
path would avoid swamps, ponds, high
hills and other natural obstacles that

would interfere with convenient
travel. Although perhaps circuitous,
it would be level and dry and the

easiest on the average to use.

But this chief cross-country trail
lay generally about four miles distant
from the shore of the bay and the
territory between was divided with
numerous necks and points that will
be apparent by a glance at a map.
Based on the same method of selec-
tion, there extended from the prin-
cipal line subordinate trails into these
necks and points Hence County
gtreet to Clarks Neek; Acugshnet road
into Sconticut Neck; the Slocum road
into South Dartmouth; the Tucker
road into Smiths Neck; the Chase road
ints Russells Mills and “Barnes his
Joy" (Barney's Joy): and others in
the szame way further weat. These
were wizely adopted by the English
because they had been proved by use
to be the most convenient and cost
nothing to build.

In the vicinity of Smiths Mills two
of the modern roads are county high-
wayvs. The road extending directly
west toward Westport Factory was
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built in 1877. The road connecting
with Kempton street in New DBedford
was laid out in 1797. In the early
davs of the settlement at Smiths Mills,
to reach the section now called New
Bedford, it was necessary to travel
northeast to the head of the Acushnet
and then =zouth towards Clarks Neck.
In 1787 Kempton street and Rockdale
avenue, then called the Noel Taber
road, were opened and then for ten
vears the usual road between these
places was Kemplon street, Rockdale
avenue and the Hathaway road. This
was zome improvement over the old
way, but in 1797 the direct line was
establizshed.

The pipneer settlers In the region
around Smiths Mills were the family
of Henry Tucker. An inhabitant of
Milton in Massachusetts bay, he was
in the midst of a community bitterly
hostile to him and to all members of
the Society of TFriends. The only
course open to him was to remove
to some other place. Rhode Island
was tolerant but it was crowded, =0
in 1670 he purchased land in Dart-
mouth. The history of the Tucker
family would be the chronicle of the
Dartmouth Society of Friends. For
that period they were thrifty, industri-
ous and worthy., Their lands were
compactly situated between the Slo-
cum road and the Pascamansett river
and except some small tracts set off
to Timothy Maxfield in the village
they owned from the Country road
south of the Allen street extension,
Altogether they must have owned
over eight hundred acres of land, thus
ranking with the Wards, and Slocums
and Allens as the owners of the most
extensive farms in the town. Their
ownership included also shore, swamp
and woodland in abundance.

It is clear that Henry Tucker lived
at 8mith Mills in 1684 when he and
George PBabcock had a grant of land
for building the mill. He purchased
land of Willlam Allen in 1670, but
there is no way to determine when
he came to Dartmouth. In 1671 he
was elected surveyor of highways and
was a resident then. He and hls sons
were selected to fill town offices con-



tinuously after that date. The Tucker
famlily always took the lead in the
local affairg of the Society of Friends.
When a history of this religious body
iz written it will be largely concerned
with this family. The name has been
appropriately applied to the road that
croszed their farms.

The location of the house of Henry
Tucker cannot be fixed with certainty,
but the houszes of the gons can he
shown even at the present day. In
1710 their lands were divided Iinto
three farms of irregular outline. The
northernmost was owned by John,
the centre by Henry and the south by
Abzsolam Tucker. On each farm was
a dwelling house the site of which
can be located. John Tucker's house
was on the west side of the road and
the land was owned, in 1%06, by the
late Jesse Tucker and is now occupied
by Job, 8 Gidley. There are on the
premises two houses. That nearest
the road was probably built im 1720,
A tradition exists that it was an annex
to an older house built wholly or in
part of stone which has been demol-
izhed many years. The tradition also
asserts that the old section was the
home of Henry Tucker, built after the
King Philip war. The present houses
remained in the ownership of the
Tuckers until the death of Jesse
Tucker and the owners since 1670
have always been found in the Society
of Friends. On the east side of the
road at the point some distance back
from the highway stands a ruin, used
lately as a farm building. It was the
house that hbelonged to the middle
farm and was bullt about the same
date as the other. It remained in the
Tucker family until the heirs of Ben-
jamin Tucker in 1832 sold it to David
. Rvder and it has since been known
as the Ryder farm.

The Absolam Tucker house stood
on the northeast corner of the Tucker
road and the extension of Allen street
from New Bedford, but about one-
eighth of a mile back from each road.
The farm was recently owned by Mrs.
Sarah Sisson Clark. There was a
housze here before 1722 and then an
addition was made to the east end.

In 1752 the old part was taken down
and the 1722 addition was much en-
larged and this is the present house.

At the north end of the Tucker
lands are some localities of consider-
able interest. A triangular farm
owned by the Country club of New
Bedford iz bounded by three roads:
The Hathaway on the north, the*' Blo-
cum on the east, and on the south the
way from Smiths Mills to New Bed-
ford.

The west end was set off about 1711
to Timothy Maxfield and was devised
to his son John in 1773; in 1803 heirs
John Maxfield to Jonathan and Mary
Wood 1829, Abijah Packard 1832,
Henry 8. Packard 1847, assignees of
Packard to John Cummings; 1881x

heirs Elizabeth 8. Cummings to
Thomas F. Caswell; 18%4, C. Al
Brownell; 1836, D A, IRoy, trustee;

1902, Oliver Prescott; 1902, the Coun-
try club of New Bedford.

The stone wall across the club
grounds marks the division line. The
east part of the farm was originally in
the Henry Tucker territory and passed

to his descendants, John and Benja-
min Tucker in 1832, The Tucker heirs
conveyed to David C. Ryder. Then

followed a number of transfers of dif-
ferent tracts to several persons, but
finally these were purchased by John
Cummings and the title then descend-
ed in the same way as the west part.
At the southwest corner of Slocum
and New Bedford roads is the property
known as the Saratoga house. This
was owned by David C. Eyder under
the same title as the land on the north
alde of the road. 1240 Ichabod Clapp;
1840 John Tucker; 1856 Henry B.
Gifford; 1856 Calvin K. Turner; 1856
John Watson and Robert 5. Smith;
1864 Smith called it Saratoga house
and sold it to Edmund Rice, who
transferred it to Euniece Ashley; 1870
Danlel Greene; 1581 Clark Greene.
Thiz house was built by David C.
Ryder. The farm between the Sarato-
ga housge property and the Tucker
road, known as the Ryder Farm, was
owhned by David C. Ryder by the deed
of 1832, Shortly after he became
financially embarrassed and the farm
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was taken by executives of different
creditors and was purchased in 1835
by James Ryder. In 1877 Louise
Ryder and Cecile C. Rleketson sold it
to Barton Ricketson, Jr., and he in
1889 conveyved the same to James T,
Wilbur.

While much of the land owned by
Henry Tucker has been sold and is no
longer owned by any of that name,
two farms are still in the possession
of his descendants, one being ocwned
by Job 8. Gldley and the other by
Jesse R. Tucker, and both between the
Tucker road and the river.

The inhabitants of 8Smiths Mills,
who were largely Quakers, attendea
the meeting house north of Russells
MMills. The first building at Smiths
Mills was built on the west side of the
Faunce Corner road, half a mile north
of the village, and was known as the
New Town Meeting house. The land
was purchased in 1754 from Josiah
Merrihew. Probably not far from
1827 this building was discontinued
and taken down. The land is still
used by the Dartmouth meeting as a
burial ground. The reazon for select-
ing the location at this point mayv have
been to accommodate members who
lived further mnorth. Later it was
probably found that most of the at-
tendants lived in the village and =0 in
1827 a lot was purchased from Isaac
5. Maxfield situated on the west side
of the Tucker road fifteen rods south
of the main highway and a meeting
house erected thereon. In 18889 this
was sold to Charles A. Cornell and a
dwelling now stands on the land.

In 1845 the separation occurred in
all the New England meetings caused
by the withdrawal of the Wilburite
Friends. In Dartmouth the Tuckers
were the leaders of the seceding
party., It then became necessary for
them to provide a separate meeting
houge and burial ground at Smiths
Millz. Perry Gifford owned the land
on the south side of the main roa-d
a few yards west of the Tucker road
and in 1850 Benjamin Tucker pur-
chased this for the Wilbur meeting
and thev built thereon the meeting
house that iz still oceupied by the
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game organization. They bought from
Benjamin Tucker land for a burial
ground on the east side of the Chase
road near the beginning of the way to
thé Head of Westport, a part of the
original Tucker farm.

At the present time (1908) the Gur-
ney branch of the Soclietv.of Friends
has no meeting house at Smiths Mills.
The attendants at the Wilbur meeting
are chiefly the family of Job 8. Gidley
and some of their relatives who are
the descendants of Henry Tucker.

The village church is the small
building with Greek portico at the
Four Corners, Thiz was organized
between 1830 and 1840 by the Cum-
mings family and their neighbors, and
the land donated by John Cummings,
It belongs to the sect known as Chris-
tian Baptists, but later called Chris-
tians,

There must have been some pro-
vision for eduecating the young of this
logality. It being a Quaker communi-
ty, there is a presumption that schools
of some sort were provided. But no
record exists that there was anv town
school. In 1728 the town meeting
geemsg to have had much to do with
the school question. The Ilaw re-
fquired one schoolmaster to each town,
but in a town of 30 many scattered
communities the way and manner in
which his time should be divided must
have occasioned some disagreement.
So during some years the town had
three schoolmasters, but this cost con-
siderable and did not eliminate entire-
¥y the wvexatious problems. During
this vear one of the wvotes was that
William Palmer, the schoolmaster,
should board five weeks with Joziah
Merrihew. Thiz result -vas accom-
plished by the influence of Merrihew
and William Hart, two residents of the
Smiths Mills region. If this action
of the town was what occurred later,
then it appears that this village had
the town schoolmaster five weeks in
a Yyear.

Adam Mott and his son Thomas
were village blacksmiths for nearly
a century. Being members of the So-
clety of Friends, they were industri-
ous and frugal and accumulated con-



giderable property. Adam Mottt ap-
peared in this vieinity in 1717 and
purchased from Timothy Maxfield a
lot of land on the east side of the
road and south of the saw mill and
here stood hig shop. The next vear
he bought from Elishib Smith an acre
of land on the opposite side of the
road where Edward Tucker’s house
stood in 1907 and here he built a
house. In 1730 he obtained the land
south of his blacksmith shop lot as
far south as the Friends burial grounua
In 1731 he purchased from George
S8mith the farm on the north side of
the road to the Head of Westport, and
this became his homestead. In later
vears it was owned by Joseph Gifford
and Luthan Potter. At the death of
Adam Mott his property passed to his
son Thomas and the latter continued
the blacksmith shop. The latter died
in 1818 and his estate was devized to
a nephew Thomas Mott, who was a
resident of New York state, and he
sold all the Mott real estate at Smiths
Mills to Joseph Gifford and it was
lIater transferred as will hereafter ap-
pear.

The first appearance of the Pack-
ard family in Dartmouth was in 1789
when Matthew Kingman of Bridge-
water and Capt. Joel Packard of Dart-
mouth purchased of Giles Hussell one-
half of the forge and iron works at
Rus=sells Mills.

In 1806 a partnership was formerd
between Benjamin Cummings, Isaac
Howland, Gideon Howland and Ahbijah
Packard, a millwright. They pur-
chased all the mill property at Smiths
Millz and Packard was the miller. In
1823 the others sold their interests to
the Cummings.

The property afterward largely came
into the possession of Henry 8. and
Charles F. Packard and In 1847 they
failed and the different pieces of real
estate were purchased by the three
Cummings brothers. In 1792 Elipha-
let Packard of Middleboro purchased
land at Dartmouth and later Gamaliel
Packard the father of Abijah Packard
owned a farm on the Faunce Corner
road. At the time of their business
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reverses the Packards removed from
Smiths Mills.

In the early history of the town
Philip Cummings owned a large farm
around Cedar Dell pond. This was
gold by him and the family moved
from the town. In 1777 there were
in Dartmouth David, John and Ben-
jamin Cummings, who were interested
in a farm near Hixville. The others
s0ld to Benjamin and do not further
appear in the affairs of this region
These men seem to have belonged in
Swansea and Benjamin was a mariner.
In 1795 he owned the house in Acush-
net, east of the bridge, and on the
north side of the road where in recent
Years Georze T. Ruszell lived. This
he owned only a year and in 1798 he
purchased one-third of the grist mill
at Smiths Mills which in 1788 Jo=zeph
Smith sold to Allen Russell. In 1802
PFe purchased land at Russells Mills
and in 1802 he acquired from Thomas
Mott the farm on the southwest cor-
ner of the Chase and Westport roads
and this was his homestead. He had
four children, one daughter, Hetty, and
three sons, Benjamin, John and Wil-
liam. William and his sister never
married and resided in their father's
house until 1848, when he purchased
the house and 1ot of the Packards
in the wvillage and this became his
dwelling. Benjamin Cummings mar-
ried Cyvnthia Smith, who lived at Rus-
gells Mills, and she was the owner of
the mill property that was conducted
by him, which was southeast of the
hill. John lived in Smiths Mills in the
houze opposite to the stone grist mill
which he built, and east of it was the
general country grocery store that he
owned and conducted.

During the active vears of their ca-
reer these men owned four mills at
Smiths Mills beside two stores and
a great part of the improved real
estate of that loeality. In an old pa-
per dated November, 1821, William
Cummings & Co. advertize for a man
to run their cotton mill. Trom 1806
to 1823 they had associated with them
Abijah Packard, a miller, and Isaac
Howland and Gideon Howland of New



EBedford. They were men of great
energy and business skill and pursued
their business in every channel of ac-
tivity. While they had their property
separate from each other, yet all their
different enterprises were operated in
eo-operation, =0 that Smiths DMills
with four mills and two stores under
practically one management became
an important centre of trade. Peo-
ple from New Bedford found an ad-
vantage in buyving at the Cummings
store. Under such econditions these
men were prosperous and accumulated
fortunes large for those days. Benja-
min, who died In 1863, left $145,000.
William, who died in 1872, left £300,-
oo,

Twao of their investments in real
estate in New Bedford are still held
in the family. In 1841 the loecal
banks held the Charles Russell brick
block on the northwest corner of
Union and Water streets and this was
gold to the Cummings. In 1851 they
bought the land on the south side of
Willlam street, between Purchase nnd
Pleasant streets, and erected the Cum-
mings block.

In 1874 the three brothers and the
gister had died and then all the real
estate at Smiths Mills was =old and
the name associated with that village
for seventy-five vears dizappeared
from its rolls.

On the west slde of the river the
roads intersect, forming four corners
In tracing the titles of the wvarious
lands this will he a convenient start-
ing point. The vacant lot on the
northeast corner belonged to the set-
off made probably in 1680, when the
mills were ordered bullt, and George
Babeock and Henry Tucker engaged
to perform the work. The land laid
out to Babeock included this lot, and
in 1706, by a mortgage from Return
Babeock, a son of George, it came
into the posseszsion of Elishib Smith.
At his death in 1765 it passed by his
will to hiz zon, Joszeph, from whom it
was inherited by his =zon, Elishib. The
subsequent transfers  were: 1793,
Elighib Smith to Benjamin Cummings;
15802, Jacob Anthony; 1806, B. Cum-
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mings, Abljah Packard, Isaac and
Gideon Howland, Jr. Thiz lot was
bounded east by mill privilege of Gif-
ford and Tucker, who operated the
gaw mill. Between 1323 and 1829 the
other owners =zold to the Cummings,
and it became the p:ropert:f of John
Cummings: and then Elizabeth 8.
Cummings, until ir 1874 she rold the
game to Phebe W. SBeabury, wife of
Warren.

Next north of thiz is part of the
property that was set off to Elishib
8mith, and then passed to his son,
Joseph; 1776, John Allen; 1777, Bar-
nabas Mosher; 1795, Joeob Anthony;
1806, DBenjamin Cummings; 1835,
John Cummings to Gamaliel Packard,;
by inheritance to Morris P. Howland,
1866, John B, Gifford and John C.
Russell.

The estate next north was laid out
to William Hart, who owned between
the river and the road, from this point
north of the Fall River Branch rail-
road, Hart died in 1735, devising this
land to his son, Archippas; 1739,
Henry  Tucker; 17486, Barnabas
Mosher, who built the north end of
the present house; 1753, Willlam
Mosher, who built the south half of
the house; 1528, Hannah Mosher to
Captain William Tucker; 1895, Hope
Kirby to George . Weeden; 1300, An-
drew H. King.

William Hart was one of the wealthy
men of his town, having personal
property of £230 and real estate
£1,600, In the inventory of his es-
tate were mentioned books, side saddle
and pilllon, three candlesticks, five
porringers, 12 pewter spoons, nine
pewter plates and three platters. In
1658 Richard Hart was an Inhabitant
of Portsmouth, and may have been an
ancestor of William, who came to
Dartmouth in 1703. His later home-
stead hou=e bulilt in 1725 is still stand-
ing on the west side of the Faunce
Corner road, north of the railroad lo-
cation, and is known &as the Harry
Morsze place. The house owned by
William Tucker and for many years
clozely associated with hiz name, I8 a
fine example of village Colonial archli-
tecture, in which comfort, convenience



and durability contribute to attractive-

ness with no ornamentation of ex-
terior,
Next north of the homestead of

William Tucker is that owned in re-
cent vears hy John W. Barker. Like all
those tract: on the east side of this
road the land was laid out to William
Hart, and in 1804 was sold by William
Hart, a descendant, to John Tucker:;
1814, Benjamin Tucker; 1830, John
Barker and Tszaac Barker: then by in-
heritance to John W. Barker, a son of
Izaac. Isanc Barker and his son, John
W., occupied for many years a stall
in the New Bedford market. Isaac
began in the old market on Second
street, where the police station now is,
and when that was superseded by the
new town hall and market in 1840 he
moved there, and hi= =on continued as
long as the building was occupled for
that purpose.

The farm next north was originally
part of the Willlam Hart land, and
degcended to Luke Hart; 1799, Luke
Hart sold to John Briggs; 1799, Briggs
to Davenport Sherman; 1828, Abijah
Packard to Ezekiel Chase, Jr.,, and hy
inheritance to Ira Chase. This house
iz nearly opposite the new town burlal
ground.

Next north the land was owned
originally by William Hart and
passed to his descendants: 1808,

William Tart, Jr., to William Hart, 22
acres; 1808, William Hart to William
H. Potter, thiz and the 40 acres north
of . it Potter probably built the
house. Tt was inherited by William
and Benjamin Potter, and in 1854,
Willlam Potter conveyed it to Philip 8.
Pool. In 1866 the heirs of Pool sold
it to Luthan T. Davis.

At the northwest of the Four Cor-
ners the land was inclosed in the
George Babeock layvout. At his death
the farm was inherited by his son,
Return, who sold it to Elishib Smith
in 1706. This farm included a large
tract extending west nearly to the
top of the Chase hill; its south line
being between the old Head of West-
port road and the modern way to
Fall River. At the death of Elishib

Smith in 1765 the entire farm was de-
vised to his son Joseph; 1767, Joseph
Smith to Benjamin Allen; 1524, Ben-

jamin Allen, Jr., to Anna Allen, his
niece; 1861, Hillary Sandford to
Tahitha Cornell; 1861, Isaac M.

Miller; 1874, Simeon Hawes, the part
north of the road. In 1908 it is
owned by the heirs of Sylvanus T.
Hawes. The latter enlarged the house
which had already been the =ubject of
several additions. The old part com-
prizing one room and the chamber
over it was built by Elishib Smith be-
tween 1730 and 17440, There is no
way to decide where the Babeock
house stood, but possibly near that
built by Smith. The land owned by
IBlizshib Smith ot Smiths Mills com-
prised nearly thres hundred acres.

Next north of the farm of Elishib
Smith was the farm conveyved by John
Fish in 1703 to Joziah Merrihew. In
thoze dayvs the road direct to Hix
Meeting House had not been opened.
This farm extended on the west line
of the Faunce Corner way a short dis-
tance north of the Quaker burial
ground. It comprised over one hun-
dred acres. The dwelling house stood
at the junction of the two roads. The
house lot known as the Joy place,
1778, was sold by the Merrihews to
William Hart; 1797, George Almy;
1803, Lemuel Mosher; 1807, Abraham
Joy, and then to Ruth Joy; - 1903,
D. and H. Potter, heirs of Ruth Joy,
to Mary B. Grow, who took down the
ald house and built & new one. A
part of the Merrihew farm further
north, in 1724, was sold by Josiah
Merrihew to the Dartmouth Monthly
Meeting of Friends.

The line beiween the Smith and
Merrihew farms can be ascertained
by the tract of land that descended
by the following title. It lay on the
north edge of the Emith farm: 1776,
Joseph Smith to Willlam Hart; 1809,
Chadwick Gifford; 1820, Jozeph
Davis; 1834, William Gray; 1837, Sam-
uel P. Allen: 1840, Isaac 8. Maxfield:
1869, part of the Maxfield land was
conveved to Sarah Collins and by her
executors in 1876 to David Sherman.
Hence the north line of the Smith



farm was the north line of the Sher-
man house lot.

Starting again at the southwest cf
the Four Corners on which stands a
amall Christian Baptist meeting house,

the land was owned by Cum-
minga and desceaded to Elizabeth
Cummings. The meeting house was

built in 1835 to 1840 by village con-
tributions, but no deed was ever given
to the land. It still remains in the
Cummingz heirs. The land west of
the meeting house, owned by
Cummings, lay on both sides of the
new road to Fall River, and in 1874
was sold by Mrs. Cummings to Lean-
der Thomas. The estate next south
of the meeting house was the home-
atead of the late Edward Tucker. This
was originally part of the Elishib
Smith farm, and In 1717 was sold to
Adam Maott, who bullt thereon a house,
In 177% Thomas Mott to John Smith;
1801, Jacob Anthony; then by inter-
mediate deeds to the Packards, and
1847 to Lauthan Potter; 1867, Edward
Tucker. This was on the south side
of the Elishibh &Smith farm. Next
south was a tract owned by Increase
Allen and given to his three daugh-
ters. Tt extended to the road to Head
of Westport and along the west line
of the same nearly to the foot of the
hill. The farm at the corner of the
roads _w::s conveved to Jacob Mott,
the zon of Adam, -nd he sold it, 1750,
to Barnabas Mosher; 1808, Barnabas
Mosher to Thomas Mott; 1815, Ben-
jamin Cummin ;s

The farm next west was purchased
from Peleg Smilth in 1729 by Adam
Moti, =nd was transferred as fol-
lows: 185189, Thomas Mott to Joseph
Gifford: 1856, heirs of Gifford to
Luthan rFotter: 18638, Edward Tucker.

At the southwest corner of the
Chaze and Westport road iz a farm
that was laid out to Willlam Wood;
785, he sold it to Barnabas Mosher;
1302, Thomas Mott; 1803, sold to Ben-
jamin Cummings. This was the home-
stead of the latter and after him of
his unmarried children, William and
Hetty.

Starting agaln at the southeast of
the TFour Corners on which iz the
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stone building occupied by W. W.
Thacher. This was originally laid out
for the mill and included land on
both sides of the river, but the saw
mill has always stood between the
road and the river. This land was
probably s=set off to George Babeock
and then was inherited by Return
Babecock, who mortgaged it, and the
title pas=sed to Elishib Smith. In 1768,
the mill was purchased by Joseph
Tucker from Joseph Smith, and an
interest was sold to Abraham and
David Maxfield. In 1803 the property
was acquired by Benjamin Cummings,
and he formed an association with
Isaac and Gideon Howland of New
Bedford and Abljah Packard, a mill
wright, and conveved to them an in-
terest in the mill. Tt was during their
ownership, somewhere about 1814,
that a cotton factory was built near
the spot occupied by the store. In
1823 the Howlands =old out their in-
terests at Smiths Mills to Packard,
who at the same time purchased the
Cummings share. In 1848, the
Packards had failed and their as-
signees conveyed the property to Wil-
linm Cummings: 1374, Elizabeth 8.
Cummings, sold to Arthur T. Wilbur,
Simeon Hawes and Jonathan C.
Hawes., In a division the Hawes fam-
il¥ took the land west of the river
with the saw mill.

The lot next south of the saw mill
land was first owned by William Sher-
man; 1715, Timothy Maxfield; 1717,
Adam  Mott, who built thereon a
blacksmith shop; 1773, Thomas Moit
gold to John Smith; 1801, Jacob An-
thony and then to BEenjamin Cum-
mings.

Next south was a tract of 25 acres
between the river and the road and
extending as far sonth as the Friends'
buriial ground. This was purchased in
1730 from Peleg Smith by Adam Mott,
and in 1819 was conveved by Thomas
Mott to Joseph Gifford, and the same
vear sold to Selina Maxfield. In 1847
it waz conveved by Philip Sanford to
William P. Peck.

The burial lot next south was a
part of the extensive domain owned
by Henry Tucker. A descendant named



Beniamin Tucker in 1860 conveyed
thiz plot to the Wilbur branch of the
society of Friends for a cemetery.
Beginning at the northeast of the
Four Corners, which has already been
traced from Babeock to Pheba W.
Seabury, we comc next east to the
west outlet of the Mill pond. The
land hetween the two streams be-
longed to the Elishib Smith land, and
in 17805 was transferred by Joseph
Smith to kis son, Blishib. The latter in
1793 =o0ld it to Thomas Smith. In
1775 there was a house and fulling
mill thereon. In 1797 It was pur-
chased by Jacob Anthony, and during
his ownership he maintained a mer-
chant’s shop and had a ligquor license,
zold groceries and other commodi-
ties, In 1806 thiz property was pur-
chased by the associates that owned
o0 much in the centre of the village,
Eenjamin Cummings, Abljah Packard,
a miller, and Isasc and Gldeon How-
land of New RBedford. Cummings
probably continued the store, as he

had a liquor license thereafter for
vears, In 1823 he bought out the
others interests in thiz lot. The large

house now on the lot wag built be-
tween 1830 and 1540 by John Cum-
mings. Elizabeth Cummings sold the
property in 1874 to Phebe W. Sea-
bury, wife of Warren. The small house
on the east edge of the lot near the
road may have been the dwelling
owned and occupied by the Smiths be-
fore 1797. At the northeast corner of
this Int was a grist mill, mentioned in
the deed to Anthony. The east outlet
of the pond in the old deeds is called
the Grist Mill flume or waste way.
Next east was the lot on which for
many vears stood a store with col-
onade, first known as the Stephen
Howland and A. P. Barker store. The
land was originally owned by
Elighib Smith, and it descended to his
heirs; 1792, Elishib S8mith to Benjamin
Cummings, who in 1803 bought the in-
terest of Danlel Howland. The Ilot
had on it then “an oil mill."” In 1793
it is described in a deed of the lot
next east as being “Benjamin Cum-
mings" saw mill lot.”* In 1823 Cum-
mings deeded to Abijah Packard, this
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lot “with house, barn, oil mill, and
blacksmith =shop."

In 1847 the Packards had failed and
the _@roperty was sold to Stephen
Howland, and he later sold it to Wil-
liam Cummings; in 1873, Adeliza Sea-
bury.

Next east, extending along the north
glde of the road as far as the head of
the 8locum road, lay the farm ac-
quired partly by layvout and partly by
purchase by Timothy Maxfield, the
first by that name to reside in Dart-
mouth., He dled in 1773 and by will
gave to his son, Timothy, that portion
of his farm on the north side of the
road, and to his son, John, the land
on south side. The road by the Sara-
toga House was not opened until 1797,
John Maxfield had a liguor license
just before the Revolutionary war.

Next east of the store lot was a
tract that extended to the old school-
housze lot, a distance of 450 feet, which
in 1829 was conveyed by Jonathan
Wood and wife to Abijah Packard. It
was conveved to Henry 3. Packard in
1822 and became his Lomestead. When
the Packards failed in 1847 thizs prop-
erty was sold to William Cummings
and became his homestead. In 1873 it
was transferred by Benjamin T. Cum-
mings to Adeliza Seabury, wife of Cor
nelinz. In 1824 Henry C. Seabury con-
veyed a lot next west of the school-
house to Nancy G. Ryder. .

The purchase of the schoolhouse lot
was made by school distriet No. 14 in
1843, from Seth Maxfield.

The balanee of the Maxfield land to
the cast and northeast along the Hath-
away road was divided and sold In
amall parcels. Somewhere on the
north side of this road was the dwell-
ing house of the first Timothy Max-
field, but the record fails to indicate
the spot. He was the ancestor of all
the Maxfields of Dartmouth.

Beginning at the south end of the
Four Corners at the store, next east
acrogs the river is now a stone mil
built by the Cummings about 1848,
The land between the two mill pond
putlets was a part of the Babcock-
gmith ownership. 1777 Elishib 8mith
old some to John MasSeld; 1803, John
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Chasge; 1804, Benjamin Cummings with
house: 1874,Mrs. Elizabeth Cummings
tn Arthur T. Wilbur, 8imeon and Jon-
athan . Hawes; in the division this
part went to Wilbur and he sold the
ame to Christopher White; 1880, Ilob-
ert F. Seabury.

On the east =zide of the east outlet
of the pond is a double house that
for years was the village tavern. The
land was a part of a set off to Timo-
thy Maxfield; 1818  Hillet Gifford;

1821, B. Cummings; W. Cummings,
Abigal Packard, Isaac and Gideon
Howland; 1830, Jonathan Collins;

1826, Samuel P. Owen; 1852, Eleazer
Phillips; 1852, Samuel Hudson; 1854,
John Cummings; 1895, Sylvanus T.
Hawes, The present house was built
in 1820 by Gifford. From 1831 It was
uged as a tavern.

Next east is a small lot that was
bought in 1855 by Philip 0. Pool and
at his death descended to his heirs,
one whom wasg the wife of H. W. Wha-
lon.

Next east is a narrow lot on which
iz a large house located well back from
the road. It was originally owned
by Timothy Maxfield; 1842, by David
3, Wilson; 1844, Allen 3. Simmons;
1845, Washington B. Tripp; 1883,
Clariz=sa M. Ayers.

Next east is a lot on which stands
the Wilbur Friends meeting house. In
15845 Simmons =o0ld to Perry Gifford;
1848, Benjamin Tucker; 1850, over-
seers of Friends meeting. The Tucker
family at Smiths Mills adopted the
Wilbur side of the 1845 controversy
and since that date have comprised the
greater part of the membership.

At the corner of the Tucker road
the owners have been: 1342, David G.
Wilson: then J. and B, Cummings;
1845, Amos Cornell; 1848, Otis Snow;
1872, heirs of Wm., Cummings to David
M. and Eunice B. Miller.

Next south on the Tucker read in
15844 Simmons sold to Philip O. Poole;
1861, Abiatha P. Haskins; 1873, Phe-
bha H. Vickery.

Next south of this was a lot pur-
chased by the Dartmouth Friends in
1527 from Iszaac A. Maxfield, and here
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was built a meeting house. In 1883
the lot was sold to Charles A. Cor-
nell.

The property next south extended
from the Tucker road to the river and
was part of the Maxfield land: 1838,
It was sold by lsaac S. Maxfield to
Abraham Tucker; 1881, Charles Tuck-
er and others to Simeon Hawes and
others: 1863, Sylvanus T. Hawes sold
the south end on the road for a school
house.

South of the s=chool house lot is an
estate known as the Hddy place. It
was on the south edge of the Timothy
Maxfield layout and next came the
farm of Henry Tucker; in 1827 the
other Maxfield heirs sold to Isaac C.
Maxfield: 1845, Klihu EKirby; 1850,
George M., IEddy; 1874, Elizabeth H.
Eddy to Isaac 8. Brownell and Charles
H. Jenney:; 1875, Asa Thompson; 1888,
John T. Wilbur; 1893, EBenjamin J.
Potter: 1906, Ephraim ¢, Palmer. It
comprizsed 10 acres and extended from
road to the river.

On the southeast corner of the New
Bedford and Tucker roads was the east
part of the layout to Timothy Maxfield,
and extended to a point near the foot
of the hill. It was purchased from
the Maxfield heirs by Dr. Simon P.
Winslow, a famous country physician,
well known in that vicinity, At his
decense before 1863 a division of this
land was made and the south end on
the Tucker road went to his son, Glles
Winsglow, and the balance fronting on
the New DBedford road went to a
daughter, Sarah L. Cleaveland.

The lot at the corner of the roads
was sold In 1864 to Rutk L. Nve and
by her in 1866 to Willlam Barker, Jr.
The land to the eastward was =old by
Mrs., Cleaveland to John W. Barker
in 18563 and the same vear to William
C. Vickery.

Dr. Winslow’s house stood on the
east side of the Tucker road on land
which he purchased in 1819 from John
Chase which was the south part of the
Maxfield land. The rest of the land
out to the New Bedford road Dr. Wins=
low purchased inm 1828, In the New
Bedford Mercury of August, 1823, ap-
pears the statement that the house of
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Dr. O. P. Winslow at Smiths Mills was
struck by lightning and his wife was
killed.

When King Philip passed through
the locality that we now call Smiths
Mills in June 1676 a few hours in ad-
vance of Capt. Benjamin Church there
was not In existence a single English
habitation. A few weeks later the war
ended by the death of Philip in the
swamp at Bristol. Soon after the
scattered Inhabitants returned. the
only one in this region whose name
is recorded heing Henrv Tucker. The
proprietors before 1680 passed a vote
entering into a contract with Tucker
and a millwright named George Bah-
cock to bulld a mill, It is not known
whether the proprietors named the lo-
cation or left the selection to the build-
ers. But Smiths Mills was the situation
and the mills were running in 1681
On his return to his farm it is =aid
that Henry Tucker built a stone house
which stood next to the old house own-
ed by Job 8. Gidley. He proposed to
have a structure that would defy the
firebrand of the savage. While de-
scendants still own tnat portion of his
farm near the spot, a different expe-
rience has come to other contempora-
ries who with him establizshed this
flourishing village. The Babeoek whao
came to build and operate the mills
soon after 1700 had moved away from
he town. John Fish whose large farm
was on the northwest szold the south
part to his son-in-law Merrihew and
the north portion to John Kirhy, and
thege and later owners named Mozher
are no longer known in the vieinity.
On both sides of the road north to
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Quanapog lay the fertile farms of Wil-
liam Hart and his descendants which
they owned and occupied for over a
century. About 15800 they transferred
what lands they still held and removed
to New Bedford., The Smiths held suc-
cessful control of the affairs of the vil=-
lage during the same period and they
departed to other towns. Under the
skill and able management of the
Cummings, the village reached its
highest point of development after the
year of 1812, But the names of Cum-
mings and Packard no longer appear
among the inhabitants. The Maxfields
who lived east of the river are not
enralled among the residents.

It cannot be said that time has dealt
kindly with Smiths Mills. Depending
entirely for its growth and importance
upon the wvalue and attractiveness of
its water power, wher this single ad-
vantage came into competition with
steam, it was inevitable that the little
water mills would have to vield and
the business of the village would dis-
appear. [Tor years the Cummings
brothers owned and aperated the mills
and stores and each line of business
assisted all the others and the most
successful cooperation was maintained.
It was in 1874 that the Cummings in-
terests here were sold and since that
date the storez and mills have been
conducted separately by differen:t own=
ers. Probably under the changed con-
ditions no man, however skilful. could
ever attract again the business that
Benjamin Cummings developed in 1806
to 1820, Hereafter Smiths Mills must

be a vilage of homes, a suburb of New
Bedford.
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